
Hoylake Golf Resort - questions that need answering before any
planning application is submitted.
The information provided at the public drop-in sessions was
meagre in the extreme. The only firm information is the
boundary of the land proposed. All else is merely
"indicative".
As far as we can gather from this lack of information, no
mitigation/compensation area for the wintering birds (see 1
below) is proposed. Therefore we OBJECT to this development
UNLESS full on- and off-site mitigation is provided for all
wildlife, including the wintering birds, water voles, bats,
barn owls, plants, invertebrates and other wildlife of the
area. Some of this could be incorporated on the golf course IF
properly designed and managed. Other wildlife, especially the
disturbance-sensitive wintering birds, would have to be
mitigated by off-site compensation works in adjacent areas.

It is essential that all necessary studies are carried out to
best practice standards, as Wirral BC is both proposer and
local planning authority for this scheme. The refusal in 2008
to designate part of the area as Site of Biological Importance
has already raised questions over the conduct of Wirral BC.

1) Wintering waders and wildfowl. A group of fields
immediately east of the existing Hoylake golf course is known
to be an important roosting site for birds from the Dee
Estuary SAC,SPA, Ramsar,SSSI. A proposal by Wirral Local
Wildlife Site Partnership in 2008 to designate this as Site of
Biological Importance was referred by Wirral BC to Merseyside
Environmental Advisory service; the report from them has never
been released to the public including ourselves, but we hope
was made available to the developers. The bird numbers using
this area are such that it is likely to qualify as Supporting
Habitat to the SAC and SPA, when these are defined during the
Local Plan process.
If this area in the western part of the proposed site is
Supporting Habitat, then either a Habitat Regulations
Assessment or a full Environmental Impact Assessment will be
needed. A Scoping Application should be made to Planning
shortly, as lengthy studies will be needed taking at least a
year.
The adjacent farmland to the south of the proposed golf area
is also part of the area used by the wintering birds. In
particular, the scrape (shallow water body) on the opposite
side of Carr Lane to Gilroy Nature Park is a major black-
tailed godwit roost and feeding area, especially on migration
in spring and autumn, and is used by many other birds from the
Dee Estuary SAC. Bird ringing records show it is certainly
functionally connected to the Dee Estuary SPA,SAC etc. Since
this area is so close to the proposed golf area, it must be



included in the Environmental Impact Assessment, and it is up
to the proposers of the project to show their plans will have
no (or positive) impact on the wildlife of this scrape and
surrounding land, and the Dee Estuary SAC itself.

The EIA reports for the proposed must therefore cover the golf
area itself and all adjacent land up to the urban boundary on
the north, south and west sides, and downstream to the east as
far as proves necessary. This must include possible
compensation areas for wildlife off the golf area.
The reports will require detailed survey work over at least a
full year to cover:

1.1) wintering birds, using the Scottish Natural Heritage
guidance on vantage point surveys and at least their
recommended frequency of survey August-March. Existing data
from local experts should be obtained and their advice sought.
* Special requirements of waders and wildfowl have to be taken
into account eg damp fields, shallow water bodies, open spaces
not trees, sensitivity to human disturbance. Golfers walking
through a roosting flock would make it fly up, losing valuable
energy.
* The report must assess the impact of proposals on SAC/SPA
populations, using the three tests of the Habitats Regulations
2010. Would the quality of the Dee Estuary SAC/SPA be
compromised by losing this roost area
* Research the availability of any alternative roosting sites
(or the possibility of creating an alternative site nearby).
The further the birds have to fly to roost, the more energy
they use.

1.2) Breeding bird survey, including ground-nesting species.
Existing records include breeding grasshopper warbler, sedge
warbler, grey partridge, lapwing (all species of serious
conservation concern and subject to Section 41 of the NERC
Act). Few of these would be compatible with golf, so off-site
compensation proposals would be needed.

1.3) Water vole survey (there are records of them present in
at least 2 ditches on this area 2007-8). The report would have
to propose mitigation methods to retain and improve their
habitat, within the proposed scheme and as off-site
compensation.

1.4) Bat survey, including both roost searches and activity
surveys. Pipistrelles and noctules are known to feed over the
area. How could foraging for bats be retained and enhanced?
What roosting provision could be made?

1.5) Barn owls hunt the area and on some years nest locally on
Hoylake Golf Course. The report would have to assess the



impact of the proposals, which will depend partly on detailed
design of the course (eg how much rough suitable for small
mammals would there be, would management avoid pesticides).
The report must evaluate the possibilities for retention and
off-site compensation.

1.6) Botanical surveys, as the area is known, now or in the
recent past, to support locally unusual and declining species
such as greater pond sedge, grass vetchling, meadow barley and
various orchid species. The surveys should include full
species lists for all areas, not just selected quadrats as for
NAC. How could these plants be retained and/or how would the
project create greater areas of equivalent habitat?

1.7) Brown hare surveys, assessment of impact and proposals to
retain and mitigate.

1.8) Common Lizard surveys, mainly on Hoylake municipal golf
course. Proposals to retain and mitigate.

1.9 Invertebrate surveys: there are records for good numbers
of dragonflies, butterflies, molluscs and beetles, including
unusual species. How would these be retained or suitable
mitigation off-site provided?

1.10 Great Crested Newts are known not far east of these
proposals. Full survey for them will be needed, including all
ponds and wet ditches. If found, then appropriate proposals to
retain and/or mitigate will be needed.

1.11) Biodiversity Action Plan (= Section 41 NERC Act)
habitats assessment. Much of the area falls into floodplain
grazing marsh. How will "no net biodiversity loss" be
achieved? Such a large project on greenfield land should aim
for relevant biodiversity gains ie benefiting the species
already present.

1.11) Surveys for other legally protected and BAP species
including badger, hedgehog, toad.

1.20) Assessment of impact on other protected sites nearby,
especially Meols Meadow SSSI, and the SBIs of Meols Fields,
Old Birket Courses and Bidston Marsh.

All this wildlife may require off-site compensation as well as
militation on site. The data from these studies should be
released before any planning application is submitted, so that
all parties can examine it, with reasonable time to do so.

2) Hydrology. This is the upper part of the Birket catchment,



which is a low-lying, low-gradient flood plain across north
Wirral, subject to flooding at frequent intervals, as was
shown in September 2015 in Moreton and district. Development
here must not change the hydrology downstream to increase
flood risk. Downstream also lies Meols Meadows SSSI, the best
remaining set of species-rich flood meadows in Merseyside,
which needs winter flooding most years to retain its floristic
quality, but not so much flooding that farming for hay+grazing
becomes impossible. Changes in quantity and quality of water
coming downstream could be harmful to this habitat.

Detailed hydrological assessment should include sustainable
drainage for all built structures and hard surfaces, including
potential housing, hotel, car parking, works compound. Due
allowance must be made for more intense rainfall events as the
climate changes.

Water from this catchment eventually enters the Mersey Estuary
SSSI, Ramsar, SPA. The proposals will need to show that there
will be no harm to the water quality of the Mersey as a result
of the proposed development.
3) The proposed resort sits on shallow alluvial and sandy
soils, which lie over a considerable peat body. Excavation
therefore carries it sown problems. Will any fill be needed to
create the course, and if so, what sort and where from? The
report must assess impacts on the hydrology and ecology, and
impacts of access, haulage, carbon emissions.

4) Sustainability. The studies done must address:
4.1 Loss of food-producing land, at a time when climate change
is reducing food security. Justification and mitigation?
4.2 Golf is a declining and ageing sport locally and
internationally. New hotels have been built in Liverpool since
the original proposal. Does the business casestand up for 2020
and onwards?
4.3 Impacts of encouraging international and national travel
on need to reduce greenhouse gasses.
4.4 Will a new course here be likely to cause the closure of a
golf course elsewhere on Wirral? Several private clubs are
under financial pressure. Job creation claims need to assess
this risk. Several of the existing Wirral golf course are
valuable for wildlife, so there maybe wildlife implications of
a closure, depending on what use the land was put to
thereafter.

5) Public rights of way, including the informal use of the
path north from Gilroy Road as a cycleway for pupils accessing
Hilbre High School. Will all RoW be retained and improved, and
how will safety of users be assured?

6) Access: safety and capacity of Saughall Massie Road and the



level crossing at Hoylake. Can the latter be replaced by a
bridge? Transport impacts on the local area.

7) All the land is in the Green Belt. Therefore the proposers
will have to prove "very special circumstances" for the hotel
and housing to be built. No affordable housing is proposed,
yet Wirral needs 40% affordable housing. How will this be
mitigated.

8) Matters that are important to wildlife on a golf course but
very difficult to control, as they depend on the Greenkeepers
and Greens Committee eg pesticide usage, fertiliser usage,
protection for water bodies and watercourses from both;
management of the roughs; provision of small habitat features
such as log piles and other shelter. While some golf courses
have shown much improvement in environmental matters in the
last decade, others have not. How can a high standard be
guaranteed?

Hilary J Ash
Hon Conservation Officer
Wirral Wildlife
The Wirral Group of Cheshire Wildlife Trust

[Note - the three tests from the Habitat regulations 2010:
53(2)(e): That the development is essential to preserving
public health or public safety, or other imperative reason of
over-riding public interest
53(9)(a): That there is no satisfactory alternative (to the
proposed development being on this site, or to the proposed
way of implementing the project)
53(9)(b): That the action authorised will not be detrimental
to the maintenance of the population of the species concerned
at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.]


